

Ferulic Acid: An Allelochemical Troublemaker

Wanderley D. dos Santos · Maria de Lourdes L. Ferrarese · Osvaldo Ferrarese-Filho*

Laboratory of Plant Biochemistry, Department of Biochemistry, University of Maringá, Av. Colombo, 5790, 87020-900, Maringá, PR, Brazil Corresponding author: * oferrarese@uem.br

ABSTRACT

Ferulic acid, a cinnamic acid derivative, is a well-known allelochemical that is widely distributed in plants. Stress on plant roots by ferulic acid affects several physiological and biochemical aspects, such as water utilization, foliar expansion, root elongation, photosynthesis, cell respiration, membrane integrity and nutrient uptake, among others. Moreover, ferulic acid may be esterified with cell wall polysaccharides, incorporated into the lignin structure or form bridges that connect lignin with wall polysaccharides, rigidifying the cell walls and restricting cell growth. This review describes general aspects of allelopathy and focuses on the role of ferulic acid as an allelochemical and its supposed mode of action in plants.

Keywords: allelopathy, cell wall cross-linkage, lignification, phenylpropanoid

Abbreviations: ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase; BA, benzoic acid; CA, cinnamic acid; CAD, cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase; CC0AOMT, caffeoyl coenzyme A 3-O-methyltransferase; CCR, cinnamoyl CoA reductase; C4H, cinnamate-4-hydroxylase; C3H, coumarate-3-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase; COMT, caffeic acid O-methyltransferase; *p*-HBA, *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid; *p*-HCA, *p*-hydroxycoumaric acid; HCT, hydroxycinnamoyl CoA: quinate/shikimate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase; F5H, ferulate 5-hydroxylase; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; POD, peroxidases; VA, vanillic acid

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	
Allelopathy: A complex science	
Ferulic acid: Yesterday and today	
Allelochemical-soil-microrganism interactions: A big hindrance	49
Uptake of FA: More complexity	50
EFFECTS OF FA ON METABOLISM: SEEKING ANSWERS	
Effects on carbon partition, carbohydrates and lipids	
Effects on enzymes	
Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL)	
Peroxidases	
Effects on mitochondrial respiration	
CELL WALL, FA AND LIGNIFICATION: PERFECT LINKS	
IS THE CELL WALL AN ACTION SITE OF FA?	
FERULIC ACID TOMORROW: WHAT HAPPENS NEXT?	
REFERENCES	

INTRODUCTION

Allelopathy: A complex science

For years, it has been known that plants release organic compounds into the environment from their aerial or subaerial parts, as exudates, volatiles, and/or decomposition residues. These compounds may accumulate in the soil environment and affect the growth and development of neighboring plants, an interaction called allelopathy (Weir *et al.* 2004). A main characteristic of allelopathy is the plant-plant interaction. Of the approximately 400,000 secondary metabolites assumed to exist in the plant kingdom, only about 3% of them have been studied to date, and many secondary metabolites have been reported to show allelopathic properties. Secondary metabolites might be separated into three chemically distinct groups: terpenes, nitrogen-containing secondary products and phenolic compounds (Taiz and Zeiger 1998). The latter group is very heterogeneous, with a diverse set of chemicals playing a variety of roles in the plant. While many are defense compounds against herbivores and pathogens, others have roles in mechanical support, in the attraction of pollinators and fruit dispersers, in the absorption of harmful ultraviolet radiation, or in allelopathy (Croteau *et al.* 2000).

Although there is growing evidence of the phenomenon of allelopathy, its existence is still debated by scientists since the mechanisms from production to release and the fate of allelochemicals are largely unknown. Responses to allelochemicals are also difficult to assess. This is further complicated by the wide range of chemicals of diverse molecular structures involved. Benzoic acid derivatives (e.g. *p*-hydroxybenzoic, vanillic and salicylic acids), cinnamic acid derivatives (e.g. *p*-coumaric and ferulic acids), nonprotein amino acids (e.g. L-3,4-dyhydroxyphenilalanine) and flavonoids (e.g. quercetin and naringenin) have been referred to as allelochemicals.

Membrane perturbations are often reported to be the primary sites of action of many allelochemicals that trigger further modifications in the physiological processes of plant

Membrane Perturbations

(binding - structure- transport - energetics)



Fig. 1 Action model for allelochemicals in plants.

cells. However, clear insight into the primary allelochemical action on plant physiology has not been obtained. Several modes of action for allelochemicals are involved in the inhibition and modification of plant growth and development (Fig. 1). There are several factors that may influence the effects of an allelochemical. Temperature, photoperiod, mineral composition of the soil and interactions with other allelopathic compounds may affect the chemical stability, availability and toxicity of an allelochemical (Inderjit 1996). It is thus rather difficult to examine how each factor influences the response of plants. Another issue is that experiments with allelochemicals have been carried out under the restricted conditions of a laboratory, which controls temperature, light, nutrient solution and pH, among others. This is a relevant problem since laboratory conditions cannot be directly compared to natural conditions (Seigler 1996). However, many researchers are finding success in their comparative studies, especially when the concentrations of allelochemicals are similar in both systems (Sène et al. 2000).

Ferulic acid: Yesterday and today

Phenolic compounds contain aromatic substances formed via the shikimic acid pathway or the malonic acid pathway, including benzoic and cinnamic acid derivatives. These two pathways supply 60% and 40%, respectively, of carbon for the biosynthesis of phenolic compounds (Gross 1981). Linked to the shikimic acid pathway, the phenylpropanoid pathway starts with deamination of phenylalanine, by phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) or tyrosine ammonia-lyase (TAL) to form cinnamic acid, its first metabolite. Cinnamate is converted to monolignols by the subsequent actions of different enzymes (**Fig. 2**).

Ferulic acid (FA) is a cinnamic acid derivative that was initially isolated as a yellow precipitate by alcoholic extraction from the commercial resin of Ferula foetida (Umbelliferae, Apiaceae) by Hlasiwetz and Barth (1866). They then determined its chemical composition as $C_{10}H_{10}O_4$ and named it Ferulasäure or ferulic acid [3,(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-2-propenoic acid]. Over the next 60 years, no additional information was reported on this compound. Then between 1925 and 1988, it was chemically synthesized (Dutt 1925), its cis and trans isomers were separated (Comte et al. 1957), and stereochemistry was ascertained by NMR spectroscopy (Kelley et al. 1976) and unequivocally confirmed by X-ray crystallographic analysis (Nethaji et al. 1988). FA is a strong dibasic acid in which the first proton dissociation generates the carboxylate anion, while the second produces a phenolate anion. The anion has a high degree of resonance stabilization, which increases its acidity in comparison with similar phenolic acids (Graf 1992).

Several reports have evaluated its occurrence, soil levels, metabolism in plants and microorganisms, industrial applications, its physiological role during lignification, and its role as an allelochemical. In soils, FA has been detected at level up to 10 mM (Macias 1995). Widely present in the plant kingdom, it has also been studied for its properties as an anti-oxidant, food conservant (Graf 1992; Walters *et al.* 1997), co-adjuvant, anti-inflammatory, analgesic (de Campos *et al.* 1998) and anti-carcinogenic (Dobhal *et al.* 1999). Moreover, FA may be found as feruloyl-CoA in the phenyl-propanoid pathway and as a component of cross-linked polymers in the cell wall (Smart and O'Brien 1979; Sánchez *et al.* 1996). As a metabolite of monolignols synthesis, FA is ester-linked to primary cell wall oligosaccharides,

Ferulic acid. dos Santos et al.



Fig. 2 Simplified phenylpropanoid pathway. PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase, C4H, cinnamate-4-hydroxylase, 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase, HCT, hydroxycinnamoyl CoA: quinate/shikimate hydroxycinnamoyl transferase, C3H, coumarate-3-hydroxylase, CCoAOMT, caffeoyl coenzyme A 3-*O*-methyltransferase, CCR, cinnamoyl CoA reductase, F5H, ferulate 5-hydroxylase, COMT, caffeic acid *O*-methyltransferase, CAD, cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase, ALDH, aldehyde dehydrogenase (Chen *et al.* 2006).

typically to arabino residue from glucuronoarabinoxylans. Smith and Harris (2000) reported that FA may be esterlinked in monocotyledons (Arecales, Commelinales, Poales, Zingiberales, etc). In dicots, FA may be present in Caryophyllales (Hartley and Harris 1981), Solanales (Keller et al. 1996), Brassicaceae (Chen et al. 1998), and Apiales (Parr et al. 1997). In soils, FA has been considered to be a strong allelochemical with several effects on plants, such as reduction in water utilization, inhibition of foliar expansion and root elongation, reduction in the rates of photosynthesis and inhibition of nutrient uptake (Sigueira et al. 1991; Einhellig 1995). Einhellig (2004) suggested that simple phenolic acids such as ferulic acid, coumarins and tannins appear to have similar modes of action that affect the growth of plants and microbes through multiple physiological effects that confer on them a general toxicity. More recently, Reigosa

and Pazos-Malvido (2007) reported the potential phytotoxic effects of different allelochemicals on germination and root growth of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The authors observed that eleven of the 21 molecules showed significant inhibitory effects on germination, and 17 inhibited root growth. Although different physiological effects are known, its primary mode of action has not been conclusively established.

Allelochemical-soil-microrganism interactions: A big hindrance

With the elucidation of certain mechanisms by which allelochemicals cause their effects, researchers have been forced to realize that it is rare for a single allelochemical to exist alone under field conditions in concentrations large enough to have significant effects (Einhellig 1995). As described earlier, an interfering factor in allelopathy is the interaction between the allelochemical and another chemical compound in the soil. Mixtures of non-inhibitory concentrations of individual phenolic acids may inhibit plant growth in an additive (equal to the sum of the effects of each allelochemical tested separately), synergistic (greater than the sum of the effects of each allelochemical) or antagonistic (lower than the sum of the effects of each allelochemical) manner (Rasmussen and Einhellig 1977). Blum et al. (1985) demonstrated that, in nutrient solutions, the leaf expansion and dry weight were reduced by single and multiple treatments of FA, vannilic acid (VA) and p-coumaric acid (p-CA). The effects of the mixture of allelochemicals were additive (for 0.5 mM FA plus 0.5 mM p-CA mixture) and antagonistic (for 0.5 mM FA plus 0.5 mM VA mixture). Using soil systems, Blum et al. (1985) and Gerig and Blum (1991) reported that the effects of FA plus VA, FA plus p-hydroxybenzoic (p-HBA) and p-CA plus p-HBA acid mixtures on leaf area expansion revealed additive effects. Similar additive (FA plus VA) effects on lettuce root growth were observed by Sampietro et al. (2006). Conducting split-root experiments, Lehman et al. (1994) verified that the simultaneous effects of FA and *p*-CA on leaf expansion were additive. The inhibition of leaf expansion was directly related to the concentrations of the acid(s) and the proportion of roots treated with the acid(s). Soybean roots cultivated in nutrient solution containing FA or VA (0.5 mM; 1.0 mM and equimolar mixtures) for 48 h were affected (Suzuki et al. 2003). Acting by themselves, both compounds (at 0.5 or 1.0 mM) decreased root length, and fresh and dry weights, and increased soluble and cell wall-bound peroxidase activities. At 1.0 mM, FA increased (but VA decreased) the phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) activity. Acting simultaneously, the effects of the allelochemical interaction were lower than the sum of the effects of each compound tested separately, an example of antagonism.

Another complex issue involves soil interactions. Reversible sorption of phenolic acids by soils provides shortterm protection to FA and other phenolic acids from microbial degradation, affecting the intensity and the duration of this intensity (Blum 1998). Introduction of microorganisms into the soil indicates rapid utilization of allelochemicals. Differential soil fixation, microbial production of benzoic acids (VA, p-HBA) from cinnamic acids (FA and p-CA, respectively) and further differential utilization of cinnamic and benzoic acids by microorganisms reveal that these conditions may influence the magnitude and duration of the phytoxicity of the individual allelochemical. Furthermore, the rhizosphere and bulk-soil bacteria may affect the access of phenolic acid toward the root. Phenolic acid-utilizing bacteria are induced/selected by less than 0.1 μ mol g⁻¹ of phenolic acid. For a 0.6 μ mol g⁻¹ soil, equimolar phenolic acid mixture composed of p-CA, FA, p-HBA and VA, modeling indicated that a 500% increase of phenolic acid in the rhizosphere, utilizing bacteria, would decrease the inhibition of cucumber leaf expansion by about 5%. In some cases, there is an inverse relationship between the size of the microbial rhizosphere population and the intensity of the allelochemicals' effects (Blum et al. 2000).

Uptake of FA: More complexity

One of the aims of investigating allelopathic interactions has been to develop means of predicting plant effects after their uptake. In this context, the uptake of FA (as radiotracer U-ring-¹⁴C ferulic acid) from solutions (0.1 to 1.0 mM, pH 4.0 to 7.0) was monitored in intact and excised cucumber roots by Shann and Blum (1987). Results revealed that FA uptake was directly proportional to its concentration and inversely to the pH of the nutrient solution. The effects were more evident in relation to the concentration of FA than its net uptake (Lehman and Blum 1999). After uptake, the intensity of the effects depended on the constant presence of the allelochemical surrounding the seedling roots. If removed from the nutrient solution, effects may be reverted.

Moreover, the proportion of the root system in direct contact with FA directly affects the allelopathic responses, such as root growth, water utilization and nutrient uptake (Klein and Blum 1990). In fact, Lehman and Blum (1999) demonstrated that the inhibition of net phosphorous uptake was related to the direct contact of the root system with FA rather than to its uptake.

A significant interaction has been verified between environmental temperatures and FA treatments. At 0.4 mM, FA reduced the dry weight of soybean seedlings grown at 34°C, while its effects were lower at 23°C. It may be plausible that temperature stress enhances allelochemical inhibition, indicating that interactions with the environment should be taken into account in understanding allelopathy (Einhellig and Eckrich 1984). Similarly, exudation of some benzoic and cinnamic acid derivatives by cucumber roots also increased with the temperature and/or photoperiod (Pramanik et al. 2000). FA caused more damage in root growth, water utilization, and leaf transpiration than other cinnamic and benzoic acids derivatives (Rasmussen and Einhellig 1977; Blum and Dalton 1985; Gerig and Blum 1991). In general, the main effects were associated with an increase in number of secondary roots and a reduction of the root/stem ratio (Blum and Rebbeck 1989; Vaughan and Ord 1990).

EFFECTS OF FA ON METABOLISM: SEEKING ANSWERS

There are several proposed modes of action for allelochemicals. As pointed out by Einhellig (1995), "the phytotoxicity of many allelochemicals may be from a generalized cellular disruption rather than a specific mechanism". Due to the diversity of compounds, a common allelochemical does not exist, nor is there a single mode of action for all allelochemicals. Therefore, the mode of action remains an open question. Some FA effects on plant metabolism will be related below.

Effects on carbon partition, carbohydrates and lipids

It has been verified that FA reduces the conversion of glucose to soluble amino acids, proteins and organic acids (Danks et al. 1975), and facilitates the incorporation of phenylalanine in proteins (van Sumere et al. 1971). A plausible explanation is that carbohydrate partitioning in plants drives toward growth and synthesis of secondary metabolites, during differentiation or under stress (Matsuki 1996). Under FA stress, glucose may be released into the cytosol and, further, used in the shikimic and phenylpropanoid pathways, reducing the carbon flux in the primary metabolism. In addition, FA decreases CO₂ reduction by photosynthesis (Yu et al. 2003), which may be related to changes in chlorophyll content (Einhellig and Rasmussen 1979; Blum and Rebbeck 1989), in glucose metabolism (Ferrarese et al. 2000). This might be associated with the conspicuous reduction in the starch stores of cap cells shown by ultrastructural assays (dos Santos et al. 2007).

Utilization of energy necessary for cells to grow and multiply in response to FA has been affected in plants. FA reduced lipid mobilization followed by the accumulation of unsaturated fatty acids in canola (Brassica napus) seeds during germination (Baleroni et al. 2000). It also increased the contents of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids of the polar and non-polar lipid fractions and xylose, fructose and sucrose in soybean root (Ferrarese et al. 2001), as seen in Table 1. Consequently, cellular structure changes appear to be, at least partially, associated with alterations in lipid and carbohydrate metabolism (Ho 1988; Ohlrogge and Browse 1995; Surjus and Durand 1996; Harwood 1997). Another fact is that malondialdehyde content, a product of lipid peroxidation, was strongly enhanced (152%) in cucumber roots by 0.5 mM FA. Moreover, the membrane injury, which indicates the integrity of the membrane, increased by 10% under FA action. It is well known that unsaturated fatty

 Table 1 Changes in some physiological and biochemical indicators in plants submitted to the FA treatment.

Function		Indicator	Cha	ange
		CO ₂ fixation	(-	–)
Energy carbohydrate		Glucose	(-)	
		Fructose	(+)	
		Sucrose	(+)	
Structural carbohydrate		Rhamnose	(-)	
		Xylose	(+)	
Lipid metabolism		-	Polar	Apolar
]	Fatty acids	Palmitic acid	(+)	(+)
		Stearic acid	(+)	(+)
		Behenic acid	(+)	(+)
		Oleic acid	(=)	(+)
		Linoleic acid	(+)	(+)
		Linolenic acid	(+)	(-)
	Lipid peroxidation	Malondialdehyde	(+)	(+)
Enzyme activities		PAL	(*	+)
		CAD/SAD	(-)	
		POD	(+)	
		ICL	(-)	
		ATPases	(-)	
		ß-GT	(+)	
		ß-GL	(+)	

Symbols: (--), decreased; (+), increased; (=): unchanged. CO₂, carbon dioxide; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CAD/SAD, coniferyl/sinapyl alcohol dehydrogenase; POD, peroxidase; ICL, isocitrate-lyase; β-GT, β-glucosyltransferase; β-GL, β-glycosidase.

acids are susceptible to free radicals. FA may then cause lipid peroxidation and membrane disruption leading to ion leakage, affecting nutrient uptake (Politycka 1996). In fact, the uptake of nutrients (Mg^{2+} , Ca^{2+} , K^{2+} , PO_4^{2-} , Fe^{3+} , Mn^{2+} , NO_3^{-} and NH_4^{+}) has been reduced by FA treatments in several plant species (Glass 1973, 1974; Danks *et al.* 1975; McClure *et al.* 1978; Kobza and Einhellig 1987; Lyu and Blum 1990; Bergmark *et al.* 1992; Booker *et al.* 1992).

Effects on enzymes

FA, as other allelochemicals, may be β -glucosylated by phenol β -glucosyltransferase and affect the activities of several enzymes, including amylase, catalase and IAA oxidase (Einhellig 1995; Devi and Prasad 1996; Politycka 1996, 1998). Special mention is made here regarding the effects of FA on phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) and peroxidases, enzymes of the lignin pathway, which are involved in the synthesis of phenolic compounds in plants.

Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL)

As noted in Fig. 2, PAL is the first rate-limiting enzyme of the phenylpropanoid pathway, leading to the synthesis of the phenolic acids and, later, to monolignols. Similar to POD, increased activity of PAL may be a response of plants to various biotic and abiotic stresses. Few studies have been carried out on the effects of exogenous FA on PAL, and results are contradictory. For example, Sato et al. (1982) pointed out that FA was ineffective on the PAL of sweet potato (Ipomea batatas) and pea (Pisum sativus). FA was unable to affect PAL activity in cucumber (Cucumis sativus) roots (Shann and Blum 1987). In contrast, increased PAL activities were associated with a decrease in cucumber (Cucumis sativus) roots after 24 and 48 h of FA treatment (Politycka 1998). In agreement with this author, dos Santos et al. (2004) demonstrated that PAL activities increase in soybean roots after 24 to 72 h of FA treatment. In addition, Politycka (1999) reported that an increase in the PAL activity induced by the action of FA and associated with reduced root growth of cucumber depended on ethylene synthesis. Application of an ethylene synthesis inhibitor (aminooxyacetic acid, AOA) cancelled out the effect of FA on PAL activity (Politycka and Mielcarz 2007). According to these authors, ethylene participates in the retardation of cucumber root growth by FÂ.

Peroxidases

Some researchers have reported alterations in POD activity under FA action. For example, in cucumber root treated with FA (0.5 or 1.0 mM), the soluble and bound form of POD increased significantly (Shann and Blum 1987; Poli-tycka 1996; Politycka et al. 2004). Application of 1.0 mM FA also caused a significant increase in both soluble and bound POD in maize roots and correlated with a pronounced decrease in root growth (Devi and Prasad 1996). At 1.0 mM, FA also increased POD activity in soybean roots (dos Santos et al. 2004). Increase of soluble POD activity was accompanied by a decrease in root growth. Based on these results, the researchers above attributed FA effects to the production of free radicals. It is well known that soluble POD catalyzes the oxidation of diverse phenolic substrates and is often regarded as an antioxidant enzyme that protects cells from the destructive influence of oxygen radicals. However, if the cells ability to scavenger oxygen radicals is exceeded, phenolic acid oxidation by soluble POD leads to the production of quinones, which increase depolarization of the cell membrane and changes in lipid composition (Politycka 1996, 1998; Ferrarese et al. 2001; Doblinski et al. 2003). Moreover, cell wall-bound POD is associated with cell wall stiffening and growth-restriction (Passardi et al. 2005). POD is able to convert phenolic compounds, such as ferulic, p-coumaric and caffeic acids, into free radicals, which spontaneously polymerize. This essential role for POD in the stiffening of cell walls through the formation of biphenyl bridges between wall polymers and, thus, the reduction of the cell wall extensibility have been proposed by some researchers (Fry et al. 1992; Sánchez et al. 1996; dos Santos et al. 2004).

Effects on mitochondrial respiration

Several allelochemicals, such as sorgoleone, juglone, quercetin, umbelliferon, gramine and cineole, have been found to perturb respiratory metabolism. In general, the production of ATP in mitochondria was inhibited by a variety of flavonoids (Einhellig 1995). Sert *et al.* (1998) demonstrated the effects of FA on L-malate oxidation in mitochondria isolated from soybean seedlings. FA inhibited basal and coupled respiration during L-malate oxidation, depleting the amounts of pyruvate or oxaloacetate produced. The authors suggest that the site of FA is situated at some step that precedes the respiratory chain, although this action occurred at a high allelochemical concentration.

CELL WALL, FA AND LIGNIFICATION: PERFECT LINKS

Integrated with the cytoplasm, the cell wall performs a role of exoskeleton, conferring to the cell its form, mechanical resistance, pathogen protection, adherence to vicinal cells, and limiting the influx of water and macromolecules. Polysaccharides as cellulose, hemicelluloses and pectins constitute its basic structure. Lignin is an important component of secondarily thickened plant cell walls. The biosynthesis of lignins proceeds through a long sequence of reactions that involve the cytosolic shikimate pathway. It supplies phenylalanine and tyrosine. Subsequently, the general phenylpropanoid pathway converts phenylalanine (or, in lesser extent, tyrosine) into *p*-hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA esters. The ligninspecific pathway starts with p-hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA esters and converts them into free cinnamic acids and monolignols (Fig. 2, Boerjan et al. 2003). FA and other cinnamic acids may covalently cross-link cell wall polymers (Fry 1986; Ramakrishna et al. 1989), hardening the cell wall. This process is important in stopping elongation (Fry 1986; Iiyama et al. 1990) and blocking access of pathogens (Assabgui et al. 1993) into the cytoplasm. Apoplastic peroxideses (ionic and covalently bound to the cell wall) are thought to catalyze the oxidation of both hydroxycinnamate crosslinkage and monolignol polymerization, which may be regulated by the supply of H2O2 and ascorbic acid (Córdoba-Pedregosa et al. 1996; Mehlhorn et al. 1996; Sánchez et al. 1996; Vianello et al. 1997).

As reported earlier (Ferrarese et al. 2001), a decrease in rhamnose and an increase in xylose contents were verified in soybean roots treated with FA. Rhamnose is a component of pectin and is related to the number of pectin gel ramifications and to reinforcement of the cell wall. It is thus possible that exogenous FA, esterified to polysaccharides, decreases free rhamnose content by reducing pectin hydrolysis. On the other hand, the increased content of xylose suggests an activation of cell wall hydrolases and esterases, which release oligosaccharides (Grant Reid 1997). In brief, FA might directly affect the structure of the cell wall. During treatment, root cells may accumulate FA in the apoplast (Akin et al. 1992) and peroxidases may catalyze the link of FA in the polysaccharides, lignin (Chakraborty et al. 1993; Politycka 1996; Wallace and Fry 1999) and other FA. Dehydrodiferulic acid may form diester, ester-ether or diesterether cross-linkages between cell wall polymers, which may reinforce the cell wall against cellulases, pectinases (Akin et al. 1993; Wojtaszek 1997), laccase (Sterjiads et al. 1993) produced by pathogens, and involved in the cessation of cell elongation. In addition to free FA, FA-oligosaccharides also show biological activity as inhibitors of cell growth (Ishi 1997) and are involved in signal transduction between plants and microorganism (Peters and Verma 1990)

Exogenously applied FA incorporates into the lignin residues (Shann and Blum 1987), inducing lignification and related enzymes associated with the reduced root growth of treated plants (Devi and Prasad 1996; Politycka 1999; dos Santos *et al.* 2004). Shann and Blum (1987) verified an increase in lignin contents associated with a decrease in root growth. In maize (*Zea mays*) roots, FA increased the activity of cell wall-bound POD correlated to a significant increase in lignin content and a reduction in root growth (Devi and Prasad 1996). Politycka (1999) also verified that cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) seedlings treated with FA stimulated lignin production, coupled to a decrease in root growth.

IS THE CELL WALL AN ACTION SITE OF FA?

Recent data obtained by dos Santos (2007) revealed that FA affects soybean root growth due to the incorporation of FA into the phenylpropanoid pathway. Using phenylpropanoid enzyme inhibitors, the authors concluded that 4CL catalyzes

the conversion of exogenously applied FA into feruloyl-CoA (**Fig. 2**). The feruloyl-CoA formed is then converted into coniferal- and sinapaldehydes, which must circumvent the inhibited CAD reaction by polymerizing toward lignin in the aldehyde state. Based on this fact, and linking the information available in the literature for FA, these authors suggested a mode of action for FA (**Fig. 3**) considering an elegant model for plant response throughout biotic stress proposed by Wojtaszek (1997).

In the model, the contact of exogenous FA with the root cell inactivates sulfhydryl groups of carrier proteins, causing an ionic disturbance and affecting nutrient uptake by the cell membrane (Baziramakenga et al. 1995). In the Wojtaszek's model, the pathogen infection generates a cascade of signaling events - including Ca2+ influx and proton efflux - that actives the NADPH-oxidase complex (generating O_2 and pH-sensible cell wall POD (producing H_2O_2), which produces an oxidative burst. To date, there are no data on signaling events caused by FA stress. However, the general disturbance caused by FA must be enough to increase the Ca^{2+} influx since its concentration is kept lower inside the cytoplasm by the action of ATPases. Short-time experiments revealed that the absence of Ca^{2+} in nutrient solution reduces FA effects on soybean roots (unpublished data). In addition, Converso and Fernandez (1996) found evidence that Ca²⁺ modulates POD isozymes.

The reduced linoleic acid content after FA treatment (Ferrarese *et al.* 2001) may also be related to signaling events. Linoleic acid is a precursor to oxylipins, such as traumatin, jasmonic acid, etc. (van der Selt *et al.* 2000), which are involved in the plant defense signaling mechanisms (Trawatha *et al.* 1995). The oxylipins pathway starts with the oxidation of linolenic acid by lipoxigenases, which are activated under stress/defense circumstances such as an increase of H_2O_2 (Fornaroli *et al.* 1999). On the other hand, jasmonic acid may inhibit plant growth and may be associated with the inhibition of root growth caused by FA (Creelman *et al.* 1992). Jasmonic acid is also related to the expression of specific POD isozymes during stress (Allison and Schultz 2004).

The control of pH in H_2O_2 production has been demonstrated. In beans, H_2O_2 is generated from O_2^- by a pH-sensible cell wall POD that requires a reductant group (Wojtaszek 1997). FA oxidation by POD might produce H_2O_2 and the resulting phenoxy radical may undergo dimerization. These dimers are, eventually, esterified to hemicelluloses, linking the cell wall polymers, stiffening the cell wall and decreasing the root growth (Zimmerlin *et al.* 1994; Bolwell *et al.* 1995; Vianello *et al.* 1997; Blee *et al.* 2001; Bolwell *et al.* 2002; Stobiecki 2002). Furthermore, an increase in H_2O_2 contents enhances activities of cell wall POD and lignification (Whetten *et al.* 1998; dos Santos *et al.* 2004; Politycka *et al.* 2004). As cited earlier, FA cross-linkages are the initial steps of lignification (Boerjan *et al.* 2003).

Experiments using inhibitors of this pathway revealed that FA might be channeled into the phenylpropanoid pathway and, later on, may increase the lignin production (dos Santos 2007). In addition, FA-induced lipid peroxidation (Polyticka 1996; Doblinski *et al.* 2003) has been related to an oxidative burst (Baziramakenga *et al.* 1995; Devi and Prasad 1996). When the oxygen radicals exceed the scavenger capacity of the cells, phenolic acid oxidation by PODs will lead to accumulation of quinones (Appel 1993; Politycka 1998). These compounds may act as proton carriers, intensifying depolarization of the root cell membrane. In summary, excessive cross-linkages, lignification and changes in the membrane permeability may cause reduced root growth (Lee *et al.* 1982; Devi and Prasad 1996).

FERULIC ACID TOMORROW: WHAT HAPPENS NEXT?

Available data related to the effects of FA on plants indicate plausible action sites during FA stress, especially the putative starting effects on sulfhydryl groups of carrier proteins



Fig. 3 Proposed mode of action for ferulic acid on lignification of soybean roots. PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; C4H, cinnamate 4-hydroxylase; 4CL, 4-coumarate:CoA ligase; HCT, hydroxycinnamoyl-CoA: quinate/shikimate hydroxycinnamoyltransferase; C3H, *p*-coumarate 3-hydroxylase; CCoAOMT, caffeoyl-CoA *O*-methyltransferase; CCR, cinnamoyl-CoA reductase; F5H, ferulate 5-hydroxylase; COMT, caffeic acid/5-hydroxy ferulic acid *O*-methyltransferase; CAD, cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase; peroxidase (POD); ferulic acid (FA); piperonylic acid (PIP); 3,4-(methylenedioxy) cinnamic acid (MDCA). (1), Chen *et al.* (2006); (2), dos Santos *et al.* (2004); (3), Shann and Blum (1987); (4); Baziramakenga *et al.* (1995); (5), Wojtaszek (1997); (6), Boerjan *et al.* (2003).

and the irreversible reduction of cell wall extensibility. Root responses to the FA action include activation of POD, crosslinks between cell wall polymers and reduction in cell wall extensibility. Moreover, exogenous FA activates cell wall POD, increases apoplastic H_2O_2 content, and may be incorporated into the metabolic pathway that leads to lignin production.

In spite of related findings, further studies are required to elucidate some of the possibilities suggested. These include: (1) identification of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such H_2O_2 and O_2 , possibly involved in these responses; (2) determination of activities of the enzymes involved in H₂O₂ production, for example, NADH-oxidase and pH-dependent cell wall POD; (3) verification of the involvement of other phenylpropanoid pathway enzymes (e.g. treatment of cell wall POD with specific inhibitors); (4) comparison of plants with CAD-deficient responses with non-deficient plants treated with FA and (5) identification of the aldehydes in induced lignin. Further data must strengthen the role of FA and other compounds in plant allelopathy.

REFERENCES

- Akin DE, Harthely RD, Rigsby LL, Morrison III WH (1992) Phenolic acids release from bermudagrass (*Cynodon dactylon*) by sequential sodium hydroxide treatment in relation to biodegradation of cell types. *Journal of the Science of Food Agriculture* 58, 207-214
- Akin DE, Borneman WS, Rigsby LL, Martin SA (1993) p-Coumaroyl and feruloyl arabinoxylans from plant-cell walls as substrates for ruminal bacteria. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 59, 644-647
- Allison SD, Schultz JC (2004) Differential activity of peroxidase isozymes in response to wounding, gypsy moth, and plant hormones in northern red oak (*Quercus rubra* L.). Journal of Chemical Ecology **30**, 1363-1379
- Appel HM (1993) Phenolics in ecological interaction: the importance of oxidation. Journal of Chemical Ecology 19, 1521-1552
- Assabgui RA, Reid LM, Hamilton RI, Arnason JT (1993) Correlation of kernel (E)-ferulic acid content of maize with resistance to *Fusarium gramineum*. *Phytopathology* 83, 949-953
- Baleroni CRS, Ferrarese MLL, Souza NE, Ferrarese-Filho O (2000) Lipid accumulation during canola seed germination in response to cinnamic acid derivatives. *Biologia Plantarum* **43**, 313-316
- Baziramakenga R, Leroux GD, Simard RR (1995) Effects of benzoic and cinnamic acids on membrane permeability of soybean roots. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 21, 1271-1285
- Bergmark CL, Jackson WA, Volk RJ, Blum U (1992) Differential inhibition by ferulic acid of nitrate and ammonium uptake in Zea mays L. Plant Physiology 98, 639-645
- Blee KA, Jupe SC, Richard G, Zimmerlin A, Davies DR, Bolwell GP (2001) Molecular identification and expression of the peroxidase responsible for the oxidative burst in French bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) and related members of the gene family. *Plant Molecular Biology* 47, 607-620
- Blum U (1998) Effects of microbial utilization of phenolic acids and their phenolic acid breakdown products on allelopathic interactions. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 24, 685-708
- Blum U, Dalton BR (1985) Effects of ferulic acid, an allelopathic compound, on leaf expansion of cucumber seedlings grown in nutrient culture. *Journal* of Chemical Ecology 11, 279-301
- Blum U, Dalton BR, Shann JJ (1985) Effects of various mixtures of ferulic acid and some of its microbial metabolic products on cucumber leaf expansion and dry matter in nutrient culture. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 11, 619-641
- Blum U, Rebbeck J (1989) Inhibition and recovery of cucumber roots given multiple treatments of ferulic acid in nutrient culture. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **15**, 917-928
- Blum U, Staman KL, Flint LJ, Shafer SR (2000) Induction and/or selection of phenolic acid-utilizing bulk-soil and rhizosphere bacteria and their influence on phenolic acid phytotoxicity. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 6, 2059-2078
- Boerjan W, Ralph J, Baucher M (2003) Lignin biosynthesis. Annual Review in Plant Biology 54, 519-546
- Bolwell GP, Buti VS, Davies DR, Zimmerlin A (1995) The origin of the oxidative burst in plants. *Free Radical Research* 23, 517-532
- Bolwell GP, Bindschedler LV, Blee KA, Butt VS, Davies DR, Gardner SL, Gerrish C, Minibayeva F (2002) The apoplastic oxidative burst in response to biotic stress in plants: a three-component system. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 53, 1367-1376
- Booker FL, Blum U, Fiscus EL (1992) Short-term effects of ferulic acid on ion uptake and water relations in cucumber seedlings. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 43, 649-655
- Chakraborty U, Chakraborty BN, Kapoor M (1993) Changes in the levels of peroxidase and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase in *Brassica napus* cultivars showing variable resistance to *Leptosphaeria maculans*. Folia Microbiologiae 38, 491-496
- Chen F, Reddy MSS, Temple S, Jackson L, Shadle G, Dixon RA (2006) Multi-site genetic modulation of monolignol biosynthesis suggests new routes for formation of syringyl lignin an wall-bound ferulic acid in alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). *The Plant Journal* **48**, 113-124
- Chen M, Gitz III DC, McClure JW (1998) Soluble sinapoyl esters are converted to wall-bound esters in phenylalanine ammonia-lyase-inhibited radish seedlings. *Phytochemistry* 49, 333-340
- Comte P, Zwingelstein G, Ville A, Mentzer C (1957) Preparation of cis isomers in the cinnamic acid series. Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Scéanes de l'Académie des Sciences 245, 144-1145
- **Converso DA, Fernandez ME** (1996) Ca²⁺ activation of wheat peroxidases: a possible physiological mechanism of control. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics* **333**, 59-65
- Córdoba-Pedregosa MC, González-Reyes JA, Cañadillas MS, Navas P, Córdoba F (1996) Role of apoplastic cell-wall peroxidases on the stimulation of root elongation by ascorbate. *Plant Physiology* **112**, 1119-1125
- Creelman N, Tierney ML, Mullet JE (1992) Jasmonic acid/methyl jasmonate accumulate in wounded soybean hypocotyls and modulate wound gene expression. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 89, 4938-4941

Croteau R, Kutchan TM, Lewis NG (2000) Natural products (secondary

metabolites). In: Buchanan BB, Gruissem WG, Jones RL (Eds) *Biochemistry* and *Molecular Biology of Plants*, Courier Companies, Inc. Rockville, Maryland, pp 1250-1318

- Danks ML, Fletcher JS, Rice EL (1975) Influence of ferulic acid on mineral depletion and uptake of 86Rb by Paul's scarlet rose cell-suspension cultures. *American Journal of Botany* 62, 749-755
- de Campos ROP, Paulino N, Silva CHM, Scremin A, Calixto JB (1998) Anti-hyperalgesic effect of the ethanolic extract of propolis. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology* 50, 1187-1193
- Devi SR, Prasad MNV (1996) Ferulic acid mediated changes in oxidative enzymes of maize seedlings: implications in growth. *Biologia Plantarum* 38, 387-395
- Dobhal MP, Hasan AM, Sharma MC, Joshi BC (1999) Ferulic acid esters from *Plumeria bicolor*. *Phytochemistry* 51, 319-321
- Doblinski PMF, Ferrarese MLL, Huber DA, Scapim CA, Ferrarese-Filho O (2003) Peroxidase and lipid peroxidation of soybean roots in response to pcoumaric and p-hydroxybenzoic acids. Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology 46, 193-198
- dos Santos WD, Ferrarese MLL, Finger A, Teixeira ACN, Ferrarese-Filho O (2004) Lignification and related enzymes in soybean root growth-inhibition by ferulic acid. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 30, 1199-1208
- dos Santos WD (2007) Aspectos anatômicos e bioquímicos de raízes de soja (*Glycine max* L. Merrill) submetidas ao ácido ferúlico. PhD Thesis, Universidade Estadual de Maringá, Brazil, 74 pp
- **Dutt S** (1925) General synthesis of a α-unsaturated acids from malonic acid. *Quarterly Journal of Chemical Society* **1**, 297-301
- Einhellig FA (1995) Allelopathy: Current status and future goals. In: Inderjit, Dakshini KMM, Einhellig FA (Eds) *Allelopathy, Organisms, Processes and Applications*, ACS Symposium Series 582, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp 1-24
- Einhellig FA (2004) Mode of allelochemical action of phenolic. In: Macias FA, Galindo JCG, Molinillo JMGV Cutler HG (Eds) *Allelopathy: Chemistry and Mode of Action*, CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, pp 217-238
- Einhellig FA, Eckrich PC (1984) Interactions of temperature and ferulic acid stress on grain sorghum and soybeans. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 10, 161-170
- Einhellig FA, Rasmussen JA (1979) Effects of three phenolic acids on chlorophyll content and growth of soybean en grain sorghum. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 5, 815-824
- Ferrarese MLL, Souza NE, Rodrigues JD, Ferrarese-Filho O (2001) Carbohydrate and lipid status in soybean roots influenced by ferulic acid uptake. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 23, 421-427
- Fornaroli S, Petrussa E, Baidot E, Vianello A, Macri F (1999) Purification of a plasma membrane-bound lipoxygenase from soybean cotyledons. *Plant Science* 145, 1-10
- Fry SC (1986) In vivo formation of xyloglucan monosaccharide: a possible biologically active cell wall fragment. Planta 169, 443-453
- Fry SC, Smith RC, Renwick KF, Martin DJ Hodge SK, Mattews RJ (1992) Xyloglucan endo-transglycosylase, a new wall-loosening enzyme-activity from plants. *Biochemical Journal* 282, 821-828
- Gerig TM, Blum U (1991) Effects of mixtures of four phenolic acids on leaf area expansion of cucumber seedlings grown in Portsmouth B1 soil materials. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 17, 29-40
- Glass ADM (1973) Influence of phenolic acids on ion uptake. I. Inhibition of phosphate absorption. *Plant Physiology* 51, 1037-1041
- Glass ADM (1974) Influence of phenolic acids on ion uptake. III. Inhibition of potassium absorption. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 25, 1104-1113
- Graf E (1992) Antioxidant potential of ferulic acid. Free Radical Biology and Medicine 13, 435-448
- Grant Reid JS (1997) Carbohydrate metabolism: Structural carbohydrates. In: Dey PM, Harborne JB (Eds) *Plant Biochemistry*, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 205-235
- Gross GG (1981) Phenolic acids. Secondary plant products. In: Conn EE (Ed) The Biochemistry of Plants, Academic Press, New York, pp 301-316
- Hartley RD, Harris PJ (1981) Phenolic constituents of the cell walls of dicotyledons. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology* **9**, 189-203
- Harwood JL (1997) Plant lipid metabolism. In: Dey PM, Harborne JB (Eds) Plant Biochemistry, Academic Press, San Diego, pp 237-272
- Hlasiwetz H, Barth L (1866) Ueber einige Harze (Zersetzungsproducte derselben durch schmeizendes Kali) Annalen der Chemie und Pharmacie 138, 61-76
- Ho LC (1988) Metabolism and compartmentation of imported sugars in sink organs in relation to sink strength. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology* **39**, 355-378
- Iiyama K, Lam TBT, Stone BA (1990) Phenolic acid bridges between polysaccharides and lignin in wheat internodes. *Phytochemistry* 29, 733-737
- Inderjit (1996) Plant phenolics in allelopathy. Botanical Review 62, 186-202
- Ishii T (1997) Structure and functions of feruloylated polysaccharides. *Plant Science* **127**, 111-127
- Keller H, Hohlfeld H, Wray VM, Gahlbrock K, Scheel D, Strack D (1996) Changes in the accumulation of soluble and cell wall-bound phenolics in elicitor-treated cell suspension cultures and fungus-infected leaves of *Solanum tuberosum*. *Phytochemistry* **42**, 389-396

- Kelley CJ, Harruff RC, Carmack M (1976) The polyphenolic acids of *Lithospermum ruderale*. II. Carbon-13 nuclear magnetic resonance of lithospermic and rosmarinic acids. *Journal of Organic Chemistry* **41**, 449-455
- Klein K, Blum U (1990) Inhibition of cucumber leaf expansion by ferulic acid in split-root experiments. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 16, 455-463
- Kobza J, Einhellig FA (1987) The effects of ferulic acid on the mineral nutrition of grain sorghum. *Plant and Soil* 98, 99-109
- Lee TT, Starratt AN, Jevnikar JJ (1982) Regulation of enzymic oxidation of indole-3-acetic acid by phenols: structure-activity relationships. *Phytochemistry* 21, 517-523
- Lehman ME, Blum U, Gerig TM (1994) Simultaneous effects of ferulic and p-coumaric acids on cucumber leaf expansion in split-root experiments. *Jour*nal of Chemical Ecology 20, 1773-1782
- Lehman ME, Blum U (1999) Evaluation of ferulic acid uptake as a measurement of allelochemical dose: effective concentration. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 25, 2585-2600
- Lyu SW, Blum U (1990) Effects of ferulic acid, an allelopathic compound, on net P, K, and water uptake by cucumber seedlings in a split-root system. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **16**, 2429-2439
- Macias FA (1995) Allelopathy in the search for natural herbicide models. In: Inderjit, Dakshini KMM, Einhellig FA (Eds) Allelopathy, Organisms, Processes and Applications, ACS Symposium Series 582, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, pp 310-329
- Matsuki M (1996) Regulation of plant phenolic synthesis: from biochemistry to ecology and evolution. *Australian Journal of Botany* 44, 613-634
- McClure PR, Gross HD, Jackson WA (1978) Phosphate absorption by soybean varieties: the influence of ferulic acid. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 56, 764-767
- Mehlhorn H, Lelandais M, Korth HG, Foyer CH (1996) Ascorbate is the natural substrate for plant peroxidases. FEBS Letters 378, 203-206
- Muller J, Boller T, Wiemken A (1996) Pools of non-structural carbohydrates in soybean root nodules during water stress. *Physiologia Plantarum* 98, 723-730
- Nethaji M, Pattabhi V, Desiraju GR (1988) Structure of 3-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-2-propenoic acid (ferulic acid). *Acta Crystallographica Section C: Crystal Structure Communications* C44, 275-277
- Ohlrogge JB, Browse JA (1995) Lipid biosynthesis. *Plant Cell* **7**, 957-970 Parr AJ, Ng A, Waldron KW (1997) Ester-linked phenolic components of car-
- rot cell walls. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 45, 2468-2471 Passardi F, Cosio C, Penel C, Dunand C (2005) Peroxidases have more func-
- tions than a Swiss army knife. *Plant Cell Reports* 24, 255-265 Peters NK, Verma DPS (1990) Phenolic-compounds as regulators of gene-ex-
- pression in plant-microbe interactions. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions* **3**, 4-8
- Politycka B (1996) Peroxidase activity and peroxidation lipidic in roots of cucumber seedlings influenced by derivatives of cinnamic and benzoic acids. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* 18, 365-370
- **Politycka B** (1998) Phenolics and the activities of phenylalanine ammonialyase, phenol-β-glucosyltransferase and β-glycosidase in cucumber roots as affected by phenolic allelochemicals. *Acta Physiologiae Plantarum* **20**, 405-410
- Politycka B (1999) Ethylene-dependent activity of phenylalanine ammonialyase and lignin formation in cucumber roots exposed to phenolic allelochemical. Acta Societatis Botanicorum Poloniae 68, 123-127
- Politycka B, Kozlowska M, Mierlcarz B (2004) Cell wall peroxidases in cucumber roots induced by phenolic allelochemicals. *Allelopathy Journal* 13, 29-35
- Politycka B, Mierlcarz B (2007) Involvement of ethylene in growth inhibition of cucumber roots by ferulic and *p*-coumaric acids. *Allelopathy Journal* 19, 451-460
- Pramanik MHR, Nagai M, Asao T, Matsui Y (2000) Effects of temperature and photoperiod on phytotoxic root exudates of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) in hydroponic culture. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 26, 1953-1967
- Ramakrishna MBV, Mital BK, Gupta KC, Sand AN (1989) Determination of phenolic acids in different soybean varieties by reversed phase high performance liquid chromatography. *Journal of Food Science and Technology* 26, 154-155
- Rasmussen JA, Einhellig FA (1977) Synergistic inhibitory effects of p-coumaric and ferulic acids on germinating and growth of grain sorghum. Journal of Chemical Ecology 3, 197-205
- Reigosa MJ, Pazos-Malvido E (2007) Phytotoxic effects of 21 plant secondary metabolites on Arabidopsis thaliana germination and root growth. Journal of Chemical Ecology 33, 1456-1466
- Sampietro DA, Vattuone MA, Isla MI (2006) Plant growth inhibitors isolated from sugarcane (Saccharum officinarum) straw. Journal of Plant Physiology 163, 837-846
- Sánchez M, Queijeiro E, Revilla G, Zarra I (1996) Changes in ascorbic acid levels in apoplastic fluid during growth of pine Hypocotyls. Effect on peroxi-

dase activities associated with cell walls. *Physiologia Plantarum* 101, 815-820

- Sato T, Kiuchi F, Sankawa U (1982) Inhibition of phenylalanine ammonialyase by cinnamic and derivatives and related compounds. *Phytochemistry* 21, 845-850
- Seigler DS (1996) Chemistry and mechanisms of allelopathic interactions. Agronomy Journal 88, 876-885
- Sène M, Doré T, Pellissier F (2000) Effect of phenolic acids in soil under and between rows of a prior sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) crop on germination, emergence, and seedling growth of peanut (*Arachis hypogea*). Journal of Chemical Ecology 26, 625-637
- Sert AA, Ferrarese MLL, Bernadelli YR, Kelmer-Bracht AM, Bracht A, Ishii-Iwamoto EL (1998) Effects of ferulic acid on L-malate oxidation in isolated soybean mitochondria. *Biologia Plantarum* 40, 345-350
- Shann JR, Blum U (1987) The utilization of exogenously supplied ferulic acid in lignin biosynthesis. *Phytochemistry* 26, 2977-2981
- Siqueira JO, Nair MG, Hammerschmidt R, Safir GR (1991) Significance of phenolic compounds in plant-soil-microbial systems. *Critical Reviews in Plant Science* 10, 63-121
- Smart MG, O'Brien TP (1979) Observations on the scutellum. III. Ferulic acid as a component of the cell wall in wheat and barley. *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology* 6, 485-491
- Smith BG, Harris PJ (2000) Ferulic acid is esterified to glucuronoarabinoxylans in pineapple cell walls. *Phytochemistry* 56, 513-519
- Sterjiades R, Dean JFD, Gamble G, Himmelsbach DS, Eriksson KE (1993) Extracellular laccases and peroxidases from sycamore maple (*Acer pseudo-platanus*) cell-suspension cultures - reactions with monolignols and lignin model compounds. *Planta* 190, 75-87
- Stobiecki M, Busko ML, Marczak L, Bednarek P, Pislewska M, Wojtaszek P (2002) The complexity of oxidative cross-linking of phenylpropanoids: evidence from an *in vitro* model system. *Functional Plant Biology* 29, 853-864
- Surjus A, Durand M (1996) Lipid changes in soybean root membranes in response to salt treatment. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 47, 17-23
- Suzuki LS, Herrig V, Ferrarese MLL, Rodrigues JD, Ferrarese-Filho O (2003) Simultaneous effects of ferulic and vanillic acids on peroxidase and phenylalanine ammonia-lyase in soybean (*Glycine max*) roots. *Phyton* 43, 179-185
- Taiz L, Zeiger E (1998) Plant Defenses: Surface protectans and secondary metabolites. In: Sunderland MA (Ed) *Plant Physiology* (2nd Edn), Sinauer Associates, Inc., Publishers, Massachusetts, pp 347-376
- Trawatha SE, Tekony DM, Hildebrand KF (1995) Relationship of soybean seed quality to fatty acid and C6-aldehyde levels during storage. Crop Science 35, 1415-1422
- van der Stelt M, Noordermeer MA, Kiss T, van Zadelhoff G, Merghart B, Veldink GA, Vliegenthart JFG (2000) Formation of a new class of oxylipins form N-acyl(ethanol)amines by the lipoxygenase pathway. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 267, 2000-2007
- van Sumere CF, Cottenie J, de Graaf J, Kint J (1971) Biochemical studies in relation to the possible germination regulatory role of naturally occurring coumarin and phenolics. *Recent Advances of Phytochemistry* **4**, 165-221
- Vaughan D, Ord B (1990) Influence of phenolic acids on morphological changes in roots of *Pisum sativum*. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture 52, 289-299
- Vianello A, Zancani M, Nagy G, Macri F (1997) Guaiacol peroxidase associated to soybean root plasma membranes oxidizes ascorbate. *Journal of Plant Physiology* 150, 73-577
- Wallace G, Fry SC (1999) Action of diverse peroxidases and laccases on six cell wall-related phenolic compounds. *Phytochemistry* 52, 769-773
- Walters MT, Heasman AP, Hughes PS (1997) Comparison of (+)-catechin and ferulic acid as natural antioxidants and their impact on beer flavor stability. Part 1: Forced-aging. *Journal of American Society of Brewing Chemists* 55, 83-89
- Weir TL, Park SW, Vivanco JM (2004) Biochemical and physiological mechanisms mediated by allelochemicals. *Current Opinion in Plant Biology* 7, 472-479
- Whetten RW, MaCay JJ, Sederoff RR (1998) Recent advances in understanding lignin biosynthesis. *Plant Molecular Biology* 49, 585-609
- Wojtaszek P (1997) Oxidative burst: an early plant response to pathogen infection. Biochemical Journal 332, 681-692
- Yu JQ, Ye SF, Zhang MF, Hu WH (2003) Effects of root exudates and aqueous root extracts of cucumber (*Cucumis sativus*) and allelochemicals, on photosynthesis and antioxidant enzymes in cucumber. *Biochemical Systematics* and Ecology 31, 129-139
- Zimmerlin A, Wojtaszek P, Bolwell GP (1994) Synthesis of dehydrogenation polymers of ferulic acid with high specificity by a purified cell-wall peroxidase from French bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.). *Biochemical Journal* 299, 747-753